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Single copies of the current Consumer Action Handbook are available by writing 
Handbook, Federal Citizen Information Center, Pueblo, CO 81009, or by calling 
1-888-878-3856. The Handbook can also be viewed and ordered online at  
www.ConsumerAction.gov.

The 2009 Consumer Action Handbook will be current through summer 2010. 
To place your name on a mailing list to receive the 2010 Handbook, please call 
1-888-878-3256. For information that is updated weekly, visit the Consumer Action 
website at www.ConsumerAction.gov.
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Advertising, Inc., for their help in developing this edition of the Consumer Action 
Handbook. We would also like to thank Marietta Jelks, the Consumer Action 
Handbook Manager, for her work on this edition of the Handbook.

We need your help to keep the Handbook up-to-date. Please report any changes 
to Handbook Update, Federal Citizen Information Center, 1800 F Street, NW,  
Rm. G-142, Washington, DC 20405 or e-mail action.handbook@gsa.gov.



As a savvy consumer, you should always be on the alert for shady deals and scams. To avoid becoming 
a victim, keep these things in mind: 

1.	 A deal that sounds too good to be true usually is!  Be wary of promises to fix your credit problems  
(p. 13), low-interest credit card offers (p. 12), deals that let you skip credit card payments (p. 12),  
work-at-home job opportunities (p. 16), risk-free investments (p. 35), and free travel (p. 43).

2.	 Don’t share personal information with someone you don’t trust. Learn how to recognize fraud by 
following the advice on page 2. 

3.	 Beware of payday and tax refund loans. Interest rates on these loans are usually excessive. Even  
a cash advance on a credit card may be a better option. For more information, see page 14.

4.	 Real estate agents represent the seller, not the buyer. When buying, consider hiring an agent or  
lawyer to represent you (p. 21).

5.	 Home improvement (p. 24) and auto repairs (p. 9) are the subjects of frequent complaints. Getting  
a second opinion can help prevent costly mistakes and enable you to make better decisions. 

6.	 Think twice before you rent-to-own. Interest rates on rent-to-own purchases can be very high. If  
you miss a payment, you could end up with nothing. Consider buying second-hand at a thrift shop  
or through ads in your local newspaper. 

7.	 Be cautious of Buy Here, Pay Here lots. If you decide to buy a car from a used car lot, be sure to read 
all of the papers before you sign. Don’t sign contracts that allow the dealership to change the finance 
rate AFTER you leave the lot. 

8. 	Don’t buy under stress. Avoid making big-ticket purchases during times of duress (e.g., coping with  
a death or debt).

Quick Consumer Tips

i

Part I —Be A Savvy Consumer
Read this section for advice before you make a 
purchase. To quickly locate specific topics and 
information, look in the Table of Contents  
(p. ii) and the Index (p. 169).

Part II —Filing A Complaint
Turn to this section for suggestions on 
resolving consumer problems. The sample 
complaint letter on page 55 will help you 
present your case.

Part III —Key Consumer 
Information Resources
Look here for a list of public resources and 
contact information.

Part IV —Consumer Assistance 
Directory
Here you’ll find contact information for 
corporate offices, consumer organizations, 
trade groups, government agencies and more.

Tips For Using This Handbook

A searchable version of this Handbook is available online at  
www.ConsumerAction.gov and in Spanish at www.Consumidor.gov.Visit Us Online



To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 60)
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Buyer Beware
Before You Buy

To avoid problems and make better decisions, use this 
checklist BEFORE you make a purchase.

•	 Decide in advance exactly what you want and what 
you can afford. 

•	 Do your research. Ask family, friends and others you 
trust for advice based on their experience. Gather 
information about the seller and the item or service 
you are purchasing.

•	 Review product test results and other information 
from consumer experts. See General Resources in 
Part III (p. 56) or check the Handbook Index (p. 169) 
for specific information.

•	 Get advice and price quotes from several sellers. 

•	 Make sure that the seller has all appropriate 
licenses. Doctors, lawyers, contractors and other 
service providers must register with a state or local 
licensing agency (p. 130).

•	 Check out a company’s complaint record with your 
local consumer affairs office (p. 130) and Better 
Business Bureau (p. 65).

•	 Get a written copy of guarantees and warranties. 

•	 Get the seller’s refund, return and cancellation 
policies. 

•	 Ask whom to contact if you have a question  
or problem. 

•	 Read and understand any contract or legal 
document you are asked to sign. Make sure there 
are no blank spaces. Insist that any extras you are 
promised be put in writing.

•	 Consider paying by credit card. If you have a 
problem, you can dispute a charge made on your 
credit card (p. 11).

•	 Don’t buy on impulse or under pressure. This 
includes donating to charity. 

Service Contracts and 
Extended Warranties

Service contracts or “extended warranties” can add 
hundreds to your purchase price and are rarely worth 
the cost. Some duplicate warranty coverage you get 
automatically from a manufacturer or dealer. Ask these 
questions before you agree to one of these contracts:

•	 Does the dealer, the manufacturer, or an 
independent company back the service contract?

•	 How are claims handled? Who will do the work and 
where it will be done? 

•	 What happens to your coverage if the dealer or 
administrator goes out of business?

•	 Do you need prior authorization for repair work?

•	 Are there any situations when coverage can 
be denied? You may not have protection from 
common wear and tear, or if you fail to follow 
recommendations for routine maintenance.

Product Safety Recalls

Before you buy a used vehicle or other second-hand 
product, check the websites listed below to be sure it 
hasn’t been recalled for safety reasons. Some recalls 
ban the sale of an item while others ask consumers to 
return the item for replacement or repair. Sometimes, a 
seller provides a part that reduces the danger of using 
the product.

If you’re buying a product for a child, be especially 
vigilant. Each year, there are about 400 recalls of 
children’s products such as toys, clothing and jewelry. 
Check the websites in the “Check Here For Recalls” 
box for the latest safety recalls. You can also  
sign up for free e-mail notifications at  
www.cpsc.gov/cpsclist.aspx. It could save a child’s life.

Before you spend another dollar, invest a few minutes reading this section of the Handbook to help you make 
smart choices and avoid scams.

1 To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 60)To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 00)

Part I – Be A Savvy Consumer

Check Here For Recalls
•	 www.recalls.gov lists government-initiated 

recalls, which are gathered from federal 
agencies.

•	 www.pueblo.gsa.gov lists both government  
and industry-initiated recalls.

•	 www.nhsta.gov lists recalls and safety  
information on vehicles and equipment.



Identifying and Stopping Fraud

Look for these warning signs to avoid fraud:

• 	You are asked for your bank account or credit  
card number. 

•	 Someone you don’t know offers you the chance  
to receive a credit card, loan, prize, lottery or other 
valuable item, but asks you for personal data to  
claim it.

•	 The solicitation looks like a government document 
and suggests contest winnings or unclaimed assets 
are yours for a small fee. (The government doesn’t 
solicit money from citizens.)

•	 Someone you don’t know asks you to send money 
to claim a prize, lottery, credit card, loan, or other 
valuable offer.

• 	An unknown caller claiming to be a lawyer or in law 
enforcement offers to help you get your money back 
(for a fee).

• 	The deal is only good “for today” or a short period  
of time.

•	 A “repair person” suddenly finds a dangerous  
defect in your car or home.

•	 You are given little or no time to read a contract.

• 	A sale item is suddenly unavailable but a “much 
better item” is available for slightly more money. 

•	 Someone is trying to scare you into purchasing 
credit protection plans.

To learn more about avoiding identity theft and  
fraud, go to page 37.

After You Buy

Even careful buyers can run into unforeseen problems 
later on. To minimize them, follow these steps after  
you buy.

•	 Save all papers that you get with your purchase. 
Keep all contracts, sales receipts, canceled checks, 
owner’s manuals and warranty documents. 

•	 Read and follow product and service instructions. 
The way you use or take care of a product might 
affect your warranty rights.

BANKING
ATM/Debit Cards

With a debit card and personal identification number 
(PIN), you can use an Automated Teller Machine 
(ATM), to withdraw cash, make deposits, or transfer 
funds between accounts. Some ATMs charge a fee 
if you are not a member of the ATM network or are 
making a transaction at a remote location.

Retail purchases can also be made with a debit card. 
You enter your PIN or sign for the purchase. Some 
banks charge customers a fee for debit card purchases 
made with a PIN. Although a debit card looks like a 
credit card, the money for the purchase is transferred 
immediately from your bank account to the store’s 
account. When you use a debit card, federal law also 
does not give you the right to stop payment. You must 
resolve the problem with the seller. 

If you suspect your debit card has been lost or stolen, 
call the card issuer immediately. While federal law 
limits your liability for a lost or stolen credit card to 
$50, your liability for unauthorized use of your ATM 
or debit card can be much greater, depending on how 
quickly you report the loss. 

www.USA.gov www.pueblo.gsa.gov 2

Quick Tips For Avoiding Fraud
Don’t give out personal information.  
Be suspicious of anyone you don’t know who 
asks for your Social Security number, credit card 
number, bank account number, password or other 
personal data. 

Don’t be intimidated.  
Be suspicious of callers who want you to 
immediately provide or verify personal information. 
Tell them you’re not interested and hang up.

Monitor your accounts.  
Review bank and credit card statements carefully. 
Report unauthorized transactions to your financial 
institution immediately.

Use a shredder.  
Tear or shred credit offers you receive in the mail,  
bank statements, insurance forms and other 
papers with personal information.
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Fraud Alert
Be on the lookout for these common scams:

Fake Check Scams – you discover the check is 
worthless after you’ve deposited it and wired money 
back to the crook.

Sweetheart Swindles – criminals befriend you 
in online chat rooms or dating sites then request 
money as a favor, accident or travel expenses. 

Auctions – beware of fraudulent sellers and bogus 
merchandise.

Lotteries – don’t fall for foreign lotteries. They’re 
illegal to play and may be a scam.

Advance Fee Loans and Credit – it’s illegal for 
telemarketers to charge a fee in advance for help 
getting a loan.







•	 Work Study. The Federal Work-Study Program 
(FWS) is a federally funded source of financial 
assistance used to offset financial education costs. 
Students who qualify earn money by working on 
campus while attending school. The money does not 
have to be repaid.

•	 Loans. Funds that are borrowed and must be repaid 
with interest. As a general rule, educational loans 
have more favorable terms and interest rates than 
traditional consumer loans.

•	 Scholarships. Offered by the school, local/
community organizations, private institutions and 
trusts, scholarships do not have to be repaid and  
are generally awarded based on specific criteria.

To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 60).15

Federal Student Aid
Many helpful publications are available at  
www.studentaid.ed.gov/pubs or you can  
call 1-800-433-3243.

www.dl.ed.gov  
The federal government’s direct loan 
website includes a servicing center.

www.bls.gov/oco   
The U.S. Department of Labor’s 
Occupational Outlook Handbook 
provides information on various 
careers and their earning potential.

www.edu.gov  
The U.S. Department of Education 
offers several financial aid guides 
for consumers.

www.nasfaa.org  
The National Association 
of Student Financial Aid 
Administrators provides a “Cash  
for College Guide” with advice,  
tips and information on financing 
your education.

Diploma Mills
If you’re ever tempted by an e-mail or ad claiming 
you can “earn a degree based on life experience,” 
don’t fall for it. Any company that offers degrees 
for a flat fee and requires little course work is a 
diploma mill. If your school is not recognized as an 
accredited institution by the Secretary of Education, 
you may not be able to receive financial aid and 
employers won’t recognize it. To check on a school’s 
accreditation by the Department of Education, visit  
www.ope.ed.gov/accreditation or search the 
Council for Higher Education Accreditation’s  
database at www.chea.org/search. 

•	 The total finance charge, including all interest  
and fees you must pay to get the loan;

•	 The Annual Percentage Rate (APR), the rate of 
interest you will pay over the full term of the loan;

•	 Penalties for late payments;

•	 What the lender will do if you can’t pay back the loan;

•	 Penalties if you pay the loan back early.

The Truth in Lending Act requires lenders to give you 
this information so you can compare different offers.

FINANCING YOUR EDUCATION
Paying for College 101

There’s no way around it. A college education is 
expensive, especially if you or your child goes to a 
private school. How much it will cost depends on the 
school you choose. Once you’ve narrowed your choice 
of schools, contact them to find out how much the 
total cost will be and what scholarships and financial 
aid are available. 

High schools often hold free seminars on choosing 
and paying for college. Another source of information 
on financial assistance from both private and 
government sources is www.finaid.org. This site also 
offers calculators that can help you figure out how 
much school will cost, how much you need to save, 
and how much aid you will need.

Many state governments have created programs 
to make it easier for families to save for 
the education of their children. Visit 
www.collegesavings.org for links to 
information on the various state 
programs, such as 529 plans.

Student Financial Aid

Student Financial Aid is available from 
a wide variety of sources including 
the federal government, individual 
states, directly from colleges and 
universities, as well as from numerous 
other public and private agencies and 
organizations. Whatever the source, 
all forms of college aid fall into four 
basic categories:

•	 Grants. Gift aid that does not 
have to be repaid and is generally 
awarded according to financial 
need.
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Federal Student Aid Information Center

The Federal Student Aid Information Center (FSAIC) 
can answer your federal student financial aid 
questions and can give you all the help you need for 
free. You can also use the FSAIC automated response 
system to find out if your Free Application for Federal 
Student Aid (FAFSA) application has been processed 
and to request a copy of your Student Aid Report 
(SAR). For FSAIC contact information, see page 111.

EMPLOYMENT
 
Times have changed with job-searching, and there are 
numerous websites now available that post jobs for 
private industry. Many companies also offer a way to 
apply online. However, these sites and new methods 
do not replace traditional and proven job-hunting 
approaches such as networking, personal contacts, 
business organizations and interviewing.

Employment Agencies

If you’re looking for a job, you may come across ads 
from employment agencies that promise wonderful 
opportunities. While some companies honestly want 
to help you, others are more interested in taking your 
money. Be wary of:

•	 Promises to get you a job and a guaranteed income;

•	 Upfront fees, even when you are guaranteed a  
refund if you are dissatisfied;

•	 Employment agencies whose ads read like job ads;

•	 Promotions of “previously undisclosed” government 
jobs. All federal jobs are announced to the public at 
www.usajobs.opm.gov.

Get a copy of the employment agency contract and 
review it carefully before you pay any money. Check 
with your local consumer protection agency (p. 130) 
and the Better Business Bureau (p. 65) to see if any 
complaints have been filed about a company. 

The Federal Trade Commission (p. 121) sues 
businesses that fraudulently advertise employment 
openings and guarantee job placement. Contact the 
FTC if you have a complaint.

Work-At-Home Companies

Not all work-at-home opportunities deliver on their 
promises. Some classic work-at-home schemes are 
medical billing, envelope stuffing and assembly or 
craftwork. Ads for these businesses say, “Be part 
of one of America’s Fastest Growing Industries. 
Earn thousands of dollars a month from your home!” 
Legitimate work-at-home program sponsors should 
tell you, in writing, what’s involved in the program  
they are selling. Here are some questions you might 
ask a promoter:

Beware: Scholarship and  
Financial Aid Scams
Scholarships and financial aid do not require upfront 
fees. While there are legitimate companies who 
will help guide you through the financial aid and 
college application process for a fee, disreputable 
companies may ask you for money up-front and 
provide nothing in return. Red flags to watch out for 
include the following:

A “money-back guarantee” to secure a scholarship. 
Don’t believe it. Unscrupulous companies attach 
conditions that make it impossible to get the refund. 

“Secret scholarships.” If a company claims to have 
inside knowledge of scholarship money, they’re 
lying. Information on scholarships is available freely 
to the public. Ask your librarian or school counselor.

Telling students they’ve been selected as “finalists” 
for awards.  If they ask for an up-front fee, head for 
the nearest exit. 

Asking for a student’s checking account to “confirm 
eligibility.” If they want bank account information 
or your credit card number to confirm or reserve a 
scholarship, it’s a scam.

Quoting a relatively small “monthly” or “weekly” fee. 
Then asking for authorization to debit your checking 
account for an unspecified length of time. Ongoing 
fees are a sure sign of a scam.

Unsolicited offers. Whether it’s an e-mail, phone 
call, or it arrived in your mailbox, if you didn’t request 
the information, ignore the offer.



•	 What tasks will I have to perform? (Ask the  
program sponsor to list every step of the job.)

•	 Will I be paid a salary or will my pay be based  
on commission?

•	 Who will pay me?

•	 When will I get my first paycheck?

•	 What is the total cost of the work-at home program, 
including supplies, equipment and membership 
fees? What will I get for my money?

The answers to these questions may help you determine 
whether a work-at-home program is appropriate for your 
circumstances and whether it is legitimate.

Multi-Level Marketing 

Some multilevel marketing plans are legitimate. 
However, others are illegal pyramid schemes. In 
pyramids, commissions are based on the number 
of distributors recruited. Most of the product sales 
are made to these distributors, not to consumers in 
general. The underlying goods and services, which 
vary from vitamins to car leases, serve only to make 
the schemes look legitimate. Most people end up with 
nothing to show for their money except the expensive 
products or marketing materials they were pressured 
to buy.

If you’re thinking about joining what appears to be a 
legitimate multilevel marketing plan, take time to learn 
about the plan.

•	 What is the company’s track record?

•	 What products does it sell?

•	 Does it sell products to the public-at-large?

•	 Does it have the evidence to back up the claims  
it makes about its product?

•	 Is the product competitively priced?

•	 Is it likely to appeal to a large customer base?

•	 How much does it cost to join the plan?

•	 Are monthly minimum sales required to earn  
a commission?

•	 Will you be required to recruit new distributors to 
earn your commission?

Net-Based Business Opportunities

The Federal Trade Commission says that many 
Internet business opportunities are scams that 
promise more than they can possibly deliver. The 
companies lure would-be entrepreneurs with false 
promises of big earnings for little effort. Some tips to 
finding a legitimate opportunity:

•	 Consider the promotion carefully. 

•	 Study the business opportunity’s franchise 
disclosure document. 

•	 Get earnings claims in writing and compare them 
with the experience of previous franchise and 
business opportunity owners.  

•	 Visit previous franchise and business opportunity 
owners in person, preferably at their place of business. 

•	 Check out the company with the local consumer 
protection agency (p. 130) and Better Business 
Bureau (p. 65). See if there is any record of 
complaints. 

•	 If the business opportunity involves selling products 
from well-known companies, verify the relationship 
with the legal department of the company whose 
merchandise would be promoted. 

•	 Consult an attorney, accountant or other business advisor 
before you put any money down or sign any papers. 

•	 Take your time. Promoters of fraudulent business 
opportunities are likely to use high-pressure 
sales tactics to get you to buy in. If the business 
opportunity is legitimate, it will still be around when 
you’re ready to decide.

To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 60).17
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FOOD AND NUTRITION
Healthy Food Choices

To help you make healthy food choices, the federal 
government posts dietary guidelines at www.health.
gov/dietaryguidelines. Federal regulations also require 
many foods to identify fat content, fiber and nutrients 
on their labels.

Food Safety

Food safety in the home revolves around three main 
functions:  food storage, food handling and cooking.  
Most experts agree that practicing a few simple rules 
focused on cleaning, separating, cooking and chilling 
can prevent most food borne illness in the home. 
The website www.foodsafety.gov is your gateway 
to government food safety information, including 
publications you can download or request. You can 
also visit www.recalls.gov for the latest food safety 
alerts and recalls.

For more information, here are some additional 
resources:

•	 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (p. 112);

•	 FDA’s Food Information and Seafood Hotline  
1-800-332-4010;

•	 Partnership for Food Safety Education at  
www.fightbac.org, the online resource for Fight 
BAC! With food safety and safe food handling 
information;

•	 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services  
(p. 111);

•	 USDA Food Safety and Inspection Service,  
www.fsis.usda.gov;

•	 USDA Meat and Poultry Hotline 1-888-674-6854.

Weight Loss 

The only proven way to help you lose weight is to  
burn more calories than you consume. If you need  
to lose weight, talk with your doctor about the 
options that are best for you. Most health experts 
agree that the best and safest way to lose weight is 
to modestly cut calories, eat a balanced diet, and 
exercise. People usually do best when they reduce 
their usual calorie intake or increase the calories 
they use by 500–1,000 per day. This allows you to eat 
enough for good nutrition yet lose about one to two 
pounds a week. Steer clear of harmful tactics such  
as smoking, fasting, purging, or abusing laxatives.

Avoid fad diets and other weight loss programs that 
promise fast results or limit your food choices. Ask 
yourself the following:

•	 How does the product or service work? Does the 
program emphasize diet, exercise or a combination 
of both?

•	 How much will it cost? Ask for an itemized list that 
includes membership fees and fees for weekly 
visits. Ask if there are extra fees for diagnostic 
tests, food, dietary supplements, or other products 
in the program.

•	 How well does it work? Ask to see the studies that 
back up success claims. Look for how many people 
completed the program, how much weight they 
lost, and how long they kept the weight off.

www.USA.gov www.pueblo.gsa.gov 18

Food for Thought
Check out these resources for advice, tips and 
education on food shopping and nutrition:

•	 U.S. Department of Agriculture (p. 106);

•	 The Food and Drug Administration  
(p. 112);

•	 Nutrition.gov (www.nutrition.gov);

•	 MedlinePlus (Click on F for Food or  
N for Nutrition at www.nlm.nih.gov/
medlineplus);

•	 The Nutrition Source (www.hsph.
harvard.edu/nutritionsource)



•	 What are the risks? Get details about possible side 
effects. Check with your doctor before you take 
prescriptions, over-the-counter weight loss drugs,  
or dietary supplements. Diets that require drastic 
food restriction should be under the supervision of  
a physician.

•	 How many calories will you eat each day? For diets 
under 1500 calories, be sure to check with your 
doctor to make sure you get all your nutrients.

•	 What are the staff qualifications? Ask about their 
training and experience.

•	 What type of attention will you receive? Will you get 
individual counseling or group support? How often?

Complaints concerning fraudulent weight loss claims 
should be directed to the Federal Trade Commission 
(p. 121).

HEALTH CARE
 
For information on healthcare plans, see page 27.

Thousands of resources are now available to help 
you make health care decisions. Be wary of websites 
sponsored by companies that are trying to sell you a 
particular treatment. It’s better to contact reputable 
associations or visit sites run by government agencies 
and recognized organizations such as the Mayo Clinic 
or the American Medical Association (AMA). This 
information should complement, not replace, what 
you receive from a doctor. Here are some sites that are 
generally recognized as reliable information sources:

HealthierUS.gov, HealthFinder.gov and 
MedlinePlus (www.medlineplus.gov) provide 
information on health issues, health care programs, 
and organizations.

Intelihealth (www.intelihealth.com) offers 
information and advice from the Harvard  
Medical School.

HealthMetrix Research, Inc.  
(www.MedicareNewsWatch.com) offers a quick 
reference to programs available in your local area.

Mayo Clinic (www.mayoclinic.com) offers an index  
of diseases and much more.

Medical Library Association (www.mlanet.org)  
links to websites suggested by librarians.

Mental Help Net (www.mentalhelp.net) links to a 
broad range of mental health topics.

Choosing A Doctor

When searching for a doctor, dentist or other 
healthcare professional:

•	 Find out whether they are licensed in your state. 
A state or local occupational and professional 
licensing board will be able to give you this 
information (p. 130).

•	 Research whether they are board-certified in the 
appropriate specialty. Visit www.ama-assn.org and 
www.abms.org for more information.

•	 Ask how often they have done the procedure you 
need and their success rate. You may be able to 
find some of this information on the Internet. For 
example, the Center for Disease Control reports the 
success rates and number of procedures performed 
by fertility clinics at www.cdc.gov. Some states 
collect and post data on the success of heart-bypass 
surgery.

•	 Check whether there have been any complaints or 
disciplinary actions taken. Visit www.docboard.org and 
www.healthcarechoices.org for more information. 
There are also pay-for-use sites with similar 
information including www.QuestionableDoctors.org, 
www.Docinfo.org, and www.checkbook.org.

Visit www.healthfinder.gov for more advice on 
identifying providers.

Filing A Complaint

If you have a complaint about the medical services you 
received from a physician, you may file a complaint 
with your State Medical Board. For a complete 
directory from the Federation of State Medical Boards, 
visit www.fsmb.org/directory_smb.html. You can also 
call the Federation at 817-868-4000 to get the phone 
number of your state medical board.

To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 60).19

Be Informed:  Risks of Weight  
Loss Surgery
Surgical procedures for weight loss should be 
considered carefully and only after you and a doctor have 
looked at all the options. Risks and complications include 
bleeding, deep vein thrombosis, infections, marginal 
ulcers, pulmonary problems, spleen injury, stenosis, 
vomiting, dumping syndrome, nutritional deficiencies, 
gallstones and even death. It is NOT cosmetic surgery. 
The National Institutes of Health has helpful information 
and has set minimum requirements for recommending 
these types of surgery, along with other important 
information, at www.nih.gov.



Choosing A Healthcare Facility 

Report cards on the Internet can help you compare 
health care facilities. Three private websites that rate 
hospitals based on information collected from Medicare 
records and other sources are www.usnews.com,  
www.checkbook.org, and www.healthgrades.com. 

The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare 
Organizations (JCAHO) accredits hospitals, as well 
as nursing homes and other health care organizations. 
Specially trained investigators assess whether these 
organizations meet set standards. At www.jcaho.org, 
you can check on a local facility, including how it 
compares with others. JCAHO also accepts consumer 
complaints. You can post a complaint on its website or 
call 1-800-994-6610.

If you are looking for a nursing home or other assisted 
living facility, these organizations can help.

•	 Nursing Home Compare, operated by the U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services, will 
help you compare the facilities in many states. Go 
to www.medicare.gov/nhcompare/home.asp or call 
1-800-MEDICARE (633-4227).

•	 Eldercare Locator (www.eldercare.gov) provides 
information and referral services for those seeking 
local and state support resources for the elderly.  
See page 112.

•	 The American Association of Homes and Services 
for the Aging (www.aahsa.org) is a trade group that 
represents many nonprofit facilities (p. 164).

•	 The Assisted Living Federation of America  
(www.alfa.org) represents both for-profit and non-
profit assisted-living facilities. Phone: 703-691-8100.

•	 The Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation 
Facilities (www.carf.org) gives its seal of approval to 
qualifying facilities. Phone: 1-888-281-6531.

Prescription Drugs 

Pharmacies may charge widely different prices  
for the same medicine, so it is a good idea to  
comparison shop.

•	 Ask your physician and pharmacist if a generic drug 
may be appropriate. Generics usually cost less than 
brand name drugs. Many insurance companies use a 
multi-tier co-payment plan for prescription drugs. Be 
sure to ask before filling the prescription.

•	 Consider using a mail-order or online pharmacy, 
especially if you will be taking a drug for a long time. 
They often charge less.

An increasing number of consumers are replacing a 
trip to the pharmacy with a trip on the Internet. While 
there are online pharmacies that provide legitimate 
prescription services, there are also some questionable 
sites that make buying medicines online risky. Do 
business only with a licensed U.S. pharmacy. Check 
with the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy 
to determine if the site is licensed and in good 
standing. Visit www.nabp.net or call 847-698-6227.

An online pharmacy should offer you access to a 
registered pharmacist who can answer any questions 
you might have about drug interactions, side effects 
and other safety precautions. Be wary of sites that:

•	 Sell drugs without a prescription;

•	 Sell drugs not approved by the FDA;

•	 Advertise quick cures;

•	 Tell stories of “amazing results.”

If you suspect a site is not a licensed pharmacy,  
report it and any complaints to the U.S. Food and  
Drug Administration (p. 112) at www.fda.gov/oc/
buyonline/buyonlineform.htm.
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Examine Your Local  
Medical Facilities
Get statistics on medical  
facilities at these sources:

www.hcup.ahrq.gov – is a free  
on-line query system that provides  
access to health statistics and information on 
hospital stays at the national, regional, and state level.

www.usa.gov – offers information on health 
facilities in your area and health by age group.

www.aha.org – is the website of the American 
Hospital Association.

www.citizen.org – links to a public interest 
organization that provides information on medical 
board disciplinary actions.



Want to know the side effects of a particular 
medication? Curious whether a drug has been 
approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration? 
For answers to these questions and other information 
on approved prescription, over-the-counter and 
discontinued drugs, visit www.accessdata.fda.gov/
scripts/cder/drugsatfda. For general drug information, 
you can also contact the FDA (p. 112).

Medicare Prescription  
Drug Coverage

Medicare offers prescription drug coverage to help  
you get the prescription drugs you need. Everyone  
with Medicare can join a drug plan to get this 
coverage. If you aren’t sure if a drug plan is approved 
by Medicare, call 1-800-MEDICARE (1-800-633-4227). 
All drug plans approved by Medicare may use this seal 
on their materials:

Like other insurance, if you decide not to enroll in a 
drug plan when you are first eligible, you may pay a 
penalty if you choose to join later. If you have limited 
income and resources, you may get extra help to cover 
prescription drugs for little or no cost.

For more information, contact the Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services (p. 112). 

 
HOUSING

 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD, p. 114) funds housing counseling 
agencies throughout the country. These organizations 
can give you advice on buying a home, renting, 
defaults, foreclosures, credit issues and reverse 
mortgages. To contact the agency nearest you, call 
1-800-569-4287 or visit www.hud.gov. Homeowners 
with problems that could result in default of their 
mortgage or foreclosure on their property are 
encouraged to contact a HUD-approved housing 
counseling agency immediately.

If, in your housing search, you believe you are being 
discriminated against on the basis of your race, color, 
nationality, religion, sex, familial status, or disability, 
contact HUD’s Office of Fair Housing (p. 114).

Buying A Home

Buying a home is one of the most complex financial 
decisions you’ll ever make.  In addition to the financial 
and legal issues involved, real estate agents and 
lenders may not be acting in your best interests.

•	 Real estate agents represent the seller, not the 
buyer. Consider hiring a buyer’s agent who works 
for you, not the seller. 

•	 Get prices on other homes. Knowing the price of 
other homes in a neighborhood will help you avoid 
paying too much.

•	 Have the property inspected. Use a licensed home 
inspector to carefully inspect the property before 
agreeing to buy it.

Mortgages

When shopping for a home mortgage, make sure you 
obtain all of the relevant information:

•	 Research current interest rates. Check the real 
estate section of your local newspaper, use the 
Internet, or call at least six lenders for information. 

•	 Check the rates for 30-year, 20-year and 15-year 
mortgages. You may be able to save thousands of 
dollars in interest charges by getting the shortest-
term mortgage you can afford.

•	 Ask for details on the same loan amount, loan 
term, and type of loan from multiple lenders so 
that you can compare the information. Be sure 
to get the Annual Percentage Rate (APR), which 
takes into account not only the interest rate but 
also points, broker fees, and other credit charges 
expressed as a yearly rate.

•	 Ask whether the rate is fixed or adjustable. The 
interest rate on adjustable rate mortgage loans 
(ARMs) can vary a great deal over the lifetime of 
the mortgage. An increase of several percentage 
points might raise payments by hundreds of dollars 
per month.

•	 If a loan has an adjustable rate, ask when and how 
the rate and loan payment could change.

•	 Find out how much down payment is required. 
Some lenders require 20 percent of the home’s 
purchase price as a down payment. But many 
lenders now offer loans that require less. In these 
cases, you may be required to purchase private 
mortgage insurance (PMI) to protect the lender if 
you fall behind on payments.

•	 If PMI is required, ask what the total cost of the 
insurance will be. How much will the monthly 
mortgage payment be when the PMI premium is 
added and how long you will be required to carry 
PMI?

•	 Ask if you can pay off the loan early and if there  
is a penalty for doing so.

To call or write an organization, use the directory (p. 60).21



There is a long list of sources for mortgages loans:  
mortgage banks, mortgage brokers, banks, thrifts and 
credit unions, home builders, real estate agencies and 
Internet lenders. 

Reverse Mortgages

A reverse mortgage is a special type of home loan  
for homeowners over the age of 62 that lets you 
convert the equity in your home into cash. The 
homeowner does not have to pay back the loan and 
interest for as long as you live in your home. The  
loan and interest is repaid only when the homeowner 
dies, sells their home or permanently moves out of 
their home. These mortgages can help homeowners 
who are house-rich, but cash-poor, stay in their  
homes and meet their financial needs. 

There are three types of reverse mortgages:  
federally-insured reverse mortgages, proprietary 
reverse mortgages and single-purpose reverse 
mortgages. As with any mortgage it is important  
to be a savvy consumer and shop for the best deal. 

For more information on reverse mortgages, check the 
directory for the following resources:

•	 The Federal Trade Commission (p. 121);

•	 The Department of Housing and Urban  
Development (p. 114) ;

•	 AARP (p. 125);

The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA) 
requires lenders to give you information on all closing 
costs and escrow account practices. Any business 
relationships between the lender and closing service 
providers or other parties to the transaction must 

Type of 
Mortgage

Fixed rate and adjustable-rate mortgages are the two main types of mortgages, but 
there is a wide variety of other mortgage products available. Below are pros and cons 
of just a few of the mortgage products you may want to consider.

Pros Cons

Fixed-rate mortgage No surprises. The interest rate stays the same 
over the entire term, usually 15, 20 or 30 years.

If interest rates fall, you could be stuck paying  
a higher rate.

Adjustable-rate (ARM) or 
variable-rate mortgage

Usually offers a lower initial rate of interest  
than fixed-rate loans.

After an initial period, rates fluctuate over the  
life of the loan. When interest rates rise, 
generally so do your loan payments.

FHA (Federal Housing 
Administration) loan

Allows buyers who may not qualify for a home 
loan to obtain one. Low down payment. 

The size of your loan may be limited.

VA loan
Guaranteed loans for eligible veterans, active 
duty personnel and surviving spouses. Offers 
competitive rates, low or no down payments.

The size of your loan may be limited.

Balloon mortgage
Usually a fixed rate loan with relatively low 
payments for a certain period of time  
(about 5-7 years).

After an initial period, the entire balance of  
the loan is due immediately. This type of loan  
is risky.

Interest-only
Borrower pays only the interest on the loan,  
in monthly payments, for a fixed term  
(about 5-7 years).

After an initial period, the balance of the loan is 
due. This usually means much higher payments, 
paying a lump sum or refinancing.
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Beware: Double Dipping
If you’re working with a broker, the National Consumer 
Law Center (p. 128) recommends you demand to know 
how much the broker is making from the lender as well 
as from any fees you might be paying. It’s best to get 
this information upfront and in writing. Avoid a broker 
who is double-dipping — getting a fat premium from 
the lender, as well as fees from you.
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